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Her shfield J.

[1] The Appellant appeals reassessments of his 1992, 1993 and 1995 taxation
years whereby the Minister of Nationa Revenue (the “Minister”) denied the
Appellant an alowable business investment loss (“ABIL") deduction of $3,000,000
in computing his income for 1992. The appeals in respect of the 1993 and 1995
taxation years turn on whether there is an ABIL carry forward deduction available
from the 1992 taxation year.

[2] Theloss claimed by the Appellant arose in respect of a $4,000,000 debenture
of Shoppers Trust Company (“ Shoppers Trust Co”) which had been pledged by the
Appelant’ s brother (Phillip) as security for a bank loan. That debenture (“ Debenture”
or “Phillip’s Debenture”) was eventually acquired by the Appellant as a consequence
of a series of events that followed Shoppers Trust Co being put into receivership.
After acquiring the Debenture, the Appellant elected in respect of his 1992 taxation
year to have subsection 50(1) of the Income Tax Act® (“Act”) apply. That subsection
deems the taxpayer to have disposed of the Debenture for nil proceeds. It is the
application of this subsection, in part at least, that gave rise to the $4,000,000 | oss.

1R.S.C. 1985, c.1 (5™ Supp.), as amended.
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[3] The soleissue is whether subparagraph 40(2)(g)(ii) of the Act applies to deny
the loss claimed by the Appellant when he elected under subsection 50(1) of the Act
to treat the Debenture as having been disposed of for nil proceeds. Subparagraph
40(2)(g)(ii) denies that loss unless the asset giving rise to the loss (the Debenture)
was acquired for the purpose of gaining or producing income. The Respondent
asserts that the Appellant failed to meet this requirement when the Debenture was
acquired from his brother.

[4] The rdevant facts are set out in the Statement of Agreed Facts attached to
these Reasons as Appendix “A”.

[5] Briefly, background facts to the end of 1991 may be summarized as follows:

a) The Appellant and his brother Phillip invested in Shoppers Trust Co
in the early 1980’s. It was engaged in the mortgage lending business
and at al relevant times qualified as a Canadian controlled private
corporation (CCPC) and as a small business corporation (SBC) as those
terms are defined in the Act. Phillip held 75% of the shares of Shoppers
Trust Co directly and the Appdlant held the remaining 25% share
interest through a holding company controlled by him;

b) Prior to 1988, each of the Appelant and Phillip aso owned
Shoppers Trust Co debentures with a face amount of $1,500,000 and
Phillip was indebted to the Toronto Dominion Bank (the “TD Bank”)
in the amount of $3,000,000 (the “TD Debt");

c) In 1988, the Appellant and Phillip borrowed $8,000,000.00 from the
Roya Bank of Canada on ajoint and several basis (the “RBC Loans’).
The loan to Phillip was in the amount of $5,500,000 and the loan to the
Appéllant was in the amount of $2,500,000.% Phillip used his loan
proceeds to repay the TD Debt and the balance ($2,500,000) to acquire
a further debenture from Shoppers Trust Co.® The Appellant used his

% The loan agreement and paragraph 6 of the Statement of Agreed Facts refer to this as a single
loan. However, during the course of the hearing both parties referred to the loan as two distinct
loans. Paragraph 11 of the Statement of Agreed Facts suggests the loan was made in distinct
amounts to each of the debtors. Accordingly, following the lead of both parties these Reasons
refer to the RBC loan asiif they were two |loans.

® The total debentures issued to Phillip were $4,000,000. It is this aggregate amount that is referred
to in these Reasons as the “Debenture” or “Phillip’s Debenture”.
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proceeds from the RBC Loan ($2,500,000) to purchase a further
debenture from Shoppers Trust Co. Thereafter, the Appellant and his
brother each owned $4,000,000 of Shoppers Trust Co debentures. The
debentures bore interest at arate of 12 per cent;

d) It is admitted that the Appellant had an income earning purpose when
he became jointly and severdly liable to the Roya Bank in respect of the
RBC Loans made to him and Phillip;

€) The Appellant and Phillip each pledged their respective $4,000,000
Shoppers Trust Co Debentures and common shares in Shoppers Trust
Co (collectively, the “Shoppers Securities’) as security for the RBC
L oan; and,

f) As aresult of a regulatory audit by the Office of Financial Savings
Institutions in December 1991, Shoppers Trust Co was put into
receivership in March of 1992.

[6] In computing his income for his 1991 taxation year, both the Appellant and
Phillip determined that at December 31, 1991, the Shoppers Securities had become
worthless. This gave rise to a business investment loss of $4,000,000 to each of the
Appellant and his brother in respect of the debentures. Accordingly, they each
claimed an ABIL of $3,000,000. These deductions were allowed by the Minister in
computing income for the 1991 taxation year.

[7] In January of 1992, after some payments by each of the Appellant and his
brother toward their respective obligations under the RBC Loans, Royal Bank was
owed $4,500,000 by Phillip ($1,000,000 having been repaid by Phillip) and $750,000
by the Appellant ($1,750,000) having been repaid by the Appellant). As noted, both
the Appellant and Phillip were jointly and severaly liable in respect of the entire
remaining indebtedness of $5,250,000 — a liability admitted to have been incurred by
the Appellant for an income earning purpose a the time the RBC L oans were made.

[8] The Roya Bank then called for repayment of the RBC Loans. Phillip was
unable to repay any part of the outstanding balance of the RBC Loans. Consequently,
the Appellant was required to repay the full amount of $5,250,000 owing to the
Roya Bank pursuant to his joint and severa obligation. Such amount was paid in
June 1992.
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[9] In the aggregate, the Appellant repaid $7,000,000 of the $8,000,000 RBC
Loan ($2,500,000 to pay off his loan and $4,500,000 on account of his brother’s
loan).

[10] In a letter addressed to Phillip dated November 18, 1992, the Appedllant
demanded that Phillip pay him the $4,500,000 that the Appellant was required to pay
the Roya Bank in respect of Phillip’s loan. Failing such payment the Appellant
stated he would obtain an assignment of the Shoppers Securities from the Royal
Bank and would take steps to recover payment of the $4,500,000 amount in full.

[11] The Appellant obtained an assignment of Phillip’s Debenture on December 1,
1992. On December 4, 1992, the Appellant gave Phillip written notice pursuant to
The Personal Property Security Act of Ontario (PPSA) that the Appellant intended to
dispose of Phillip's Debenture unless Phillip paid the Appellant $4,500,000, but if
that amount was not paid, the Appellant accepted Phillip’s Debenture in satisfaction
of Phillip’s obligation to the Appellant.*

[12] Phillip was unable to repay any amount to the Appellant due to serious
financia difficulties. The Appdlant therefore acquired Phillip's Debenture (and
common shares) without attempting to collect the $4,500,000 from Phillip.

[13] Shoppers Trust Co remains in receivership to this day. It is agreed that on
December 31, 1992, the Debenture acquired by the Appellant from his brother had no
value. As the owner of this newly acquired Debenture and electing under subsection
50(1), the Appellant claimed a $4,000,000 business investment loss and an ABIL of
$3,000,000. Thisloss was denied by the Respondent.

[14] The loss claimed relies on the Appellant having an adjusted cost base of
$4,000,000 in respect of the Debenture acquired from his brother. The Appellant
relies on section 79 asit read at the relevant time in 1992 to support his assertion in
this regard. Respondent’s counsel conceded this at trial and made no argument as
to a different construction of section 79. Accordingly, having a $4,000,000 adjusted

* Although the Agreed Statement of Facts (paragraphs 20 and 21) refer only to the Appellant
accepting Phillip’s Debenture in full satisfaction of the $4,500,000, it seems apparent that the
parties accept that the common shares which formed part of the Shoppers Securities were
assigned to the Appellant and accepted as well as part of the consideration for Phillip being
released from his debt to the Appellant. That is, it seems apparent that the parties accept that
$4,000,000 was the debt amount released in respect of Phillips's Debenture with the $500,000
balance being attributed to the common shares.
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cost base and nil proceeds of disposition under subsection 50(1), the Appellant had a
capita loss of $4,000,000 and claimed an ABIL of $3,000,000.

[15] Subject to the application of subparagraph 40(2)(g)(ii), the Respondent agreed
a the hearing that paragraphs 79(f) and (g), subsection 50(1), and paragraphs
39(1)(c) and 38(c) of the Act, permitted the Appellant to deduct the ABIL claimed in
respect of the Debenture acquired from Phillip. Therefore, the only matter to be
decided is whether the Appellant acquired Phillip’s Debenture for the purpose of
gaining or producing income from a business or property within the meaning of
subparagraph 40(2)(g)(ii) of the Act.

[16] Before turning to consider that question, | note that in addition to the
Statement of Agreed Facts, the Appellant gave evidence at the hearing. He testified
that when he seized Phillip’s Debenture, he believed in its eventual value and did not
sue his brother for contribution because Phillip already had severe financia troubles
and no assets. While reluctant to acknowledge knowledge of certain correspondence
from tax advisers reating to his acquiring his brother’s Debenture, he did
acknowledge that he knew of the tax advantage and followed the advice of his
advisers to best ensure his loss position in respect of his obligations under the joint
and several RBC Loans.

[17] | turn now to the arguments made by the parties.

ARGUMENT

Appelant

[18] The Appéellant’s principal argument is that | must accept the uncontradicted
testimony of the Appellant that he had in mind that the ownership of Phillip’'s
Debenture might one day have value. That that may only have been a faint hope
and not the predominant reason for acquiring the Debenture, cannot dissuade me of
accepting his income producing purpose. The Appellant relies on Larry W. Rich v.
Her Majesty the Queen.®

[19] The Appellant’s alternative argument is that the time to consider the purpose
of acquiring Phillip’s Debenture is not the time of acquisition of the worthless

52003 DTC 5115 (F.C.A.).
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subrogated debt, but rather the time to consider purpose should be determined by
looking to the event that eventually gave rise to the acquisition. It isthe Appdlant’s
position that his seizure of Phillip’s Debenture is a direct result of the income earning
purpose that motivated him to effectively guarantee Phillip’'s debt and invest in
Shoppers Trust Co originaly.

[20] The Appédllant relies on the Reasons for Judgment of Justice Bowman of this
Court (now Chief Justice) in The Cadillac Fairview Corporation Limited v. Her
Majesty the Queen,® where he states, at pages 406-407:

To arrive at the conclusion that a capital loss has been sustained for the purposes
of the Act it is clear from sections 3, 38 and 39 that there must have been an
actual or deemed disposition of property. The mere making of a capital payment
does not, of itself, give rise to a capital loss. Where a guarantee of a primary
debtor’s obligation is given and the guarantor is required under the guarantee to
pay and does pay to the creditor the primary debtor’s obligation, the guarantor is
in the normal course subrogated to the position of the creditor unless it has
explicitly or implicitly waived those rights of subrogation or other circumstances
prevent such rights from arising. Absent such a factual or legal impediment, by
operation of law a debtor-creditor relationship arises between the guarantor and
the primary debtor. The guarantor’s cost of the debt would normally be the
amount that it paid under the guarantee. (emphasis added)

If, as is frequently the case, the principal debtor cannot pay, the debt may be
regarded as having become bad. Section 50 of the Act deems the debt to have
been disposed of by the guarantor at the end of the taxation year in which it
became bad and to have been reacquired at a cost of nil immediately
thereafter. Thus, through the combined operation of the law of subrogation
and section 50 of the Act the disposition necessary to support the claim for a
capital lossis achieved.

[21] Chief Justice Bowman then dealt specifically with how subparagraph
40(2)(g)(ii) should be interpreted and stated as follows at page 407:

In many cases if a guarantor is obliged to make good under a guarantee it is
because the principal debtor is unable to pay the obligation. From this, it follows
that the guarantor’s right of subrogation against the principal debtor is, at the time
of acquisition, likely to be, in many instances, worthless or virtually worthless. A
narrow and mechanical reading of subparagraph 40(2)(g)(ii) would lead one to
conclude that on the payment of the guaranteed amount the guarantor’s
acquisition of the worthless subrogated debt could not possibly have as its

697 DTC 405 (T.C.C.), &f'd 99 DTC 5121 (F.C.A.).
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purpose the gaining or producing of income from a business or property. Such an
interpretation in my view lacks commercia sense. A functional and more
commercialy realistic interpretation would subsume in the purpose of the
acquisition of the subrogated debt the purpose for which the guarantee was
originaly given. (emphasis added)

[22] Relying on this passage, the Appellant argues that it is clear that the Court
would not accept a “narrow and mechanical reading” of subparagraph 40(2)(g)(ii)
and insist that a taxpayer satisfy a condition that could likely not be satisfied in
most cases once a debt has gone into default. If it is only after the default that the
purpose of acquiring the worthless subrogated debt is examined, the test of gaining
or producing income from a business or property could, in almost every case not be
satisfied.

[23] InHarry Gordon v. Her Majesty the Queen,” Justice McArthur applied Chief
Justice Bowman’stest in Cadillac Fairview and said at page 1558:

Common sense and commercial reality leads to the obvious conclusion that the
appropriate time to consider whether the Appellant had an income earning
purpose was at the time that the guarantee was given, and not at the time the
guaranteed debt was in fact paid. (emphasis added)

[24] In National Developments Ltd. v. Her Majesty the Queen,® Justice Bell held
that the taxpayer's right to receive an amount from a subsidiary by way of
subrogation (following the taxpayer’s payment of that amount to the subsidiary’s
creditor) related back to the time when the amount was pledged to the creditor.

796 DTC 1554 (T.C.C.).

894 DTC 1061 (T.C.C).
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At page 1067 he found:

(b) the debt or right to receive the sum of $951,177 from K-Tel arising on the
banks' calling on the Appellant’s pledge related back to the time when the amount
of that pledge was deposited in a collateral account as security for payment to the
banks of K-Tel’s obligations. Although it may be suggested that technically the
reference to “debt or other right to receive an amount” being acquired must refer
only to the date upon which the banks called K-Tel’s loan and applied the monies
in the Collateral Accounts to K-Tel’s obligation to the banks, such construction,
in my opinion would be inconsistent with the object and spirit of subparagraph
40(2)(g)(ii), would not be in harmony with the evident purpose of that provision,
would lack common sense and would cast a blind eye to the commercial and
economic realities of business transactions, (emphasis added)

[25] In Estate of the Late Fabian Aylward v. Her Majesty the Queen,® Justice
Mogan referred to the National Developments and said, at page 643:

By parallel reasoning, | conclude that the payments to General Tire and Toyo
Tire, made by Mr. Aylward in 1994, relate back to the time when two guarantees
were first given and the later time when those two creditors demanded payment
from Provincial Tire (as debtor) and from Aylward’s Limited (as guarantor). The
capital loss incurred by Mr. Aylward in 1994 upon his payment of the $305,000
was not reduced to nil by subparagraph 40(2)(g)(ii).

[26] In Xavier v. Fernandezv. M.N.R.,”® Mogan, J. said at page 184:

In my oral Reasons for Judgment, | erred in looking at the retaining of the net
proceeds of sale by the financial institutions as an investment by the Appellant
and his co-owners at the time of the forced sale. Instead, | should have related the
investment of those proceeds back to the date when the property was pledged. |
regret that | have not had the benefit of hearing legal argument on this issue of
“relating back”.

[27] All these authorities are argued to support the Appellant’s position that the
test of whether a debt or security was acquired for the purpose of gaining or
producing income from a business or property must be applied at the time the
guarantee or, in this case, the obligation to pay, was originally given or created, not
at the time when the debt or the security are likely worthless.

® 2001 DTC 638 (T.C.C)).

1991 DTC 182 (T.C.C)).
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Respondent

[28] The Respondent challenges the Appellant’s testimony that he thought
Phillip’s Debenture might have value one day and argues that releasing his brother
from his indebtedness and acquiring an admittedly worthless Debenture is not
consistent with a reasonable objective conclusion that the Debenture was acquired for
the purpose of gaining or producing income. The Debenture had been worthless for a
year when he acquired it; it was unsecured; and had no prospect of having any value.
Discharging Phillip was forgoing a better prospect for financial recovery and all
documentary evidence shows that the only considerations for the acquisition and
discharge were income tax considerations.

[29] With respect to the Appellant’s aternative argument, the Respondent does
not take issue with the Appellant taking an assignment of Phillip’s Debenture from
the Royal Bank which gave the Appellant a security interest in the Debenture. The
Respondent recognizes that under the law of guaranty as set out in the province of
Ontario under the scheme of the Mercantile Law Amendment Act (“MLAA”) and the
PPSA, upon assignment from the creditor, the surety for a debt is entitled to stand in
place of the creditor and use all the remedies available to the creditor to recover the
loss from the origina debtor. However, the Respondent contends that the Appellant
therefore had three possible recourses for recovery of his payment for Phillip’'s
liability to the Royal Bank:

a. Hecould have pursued Phillip on hisliability;

b. He could have sold the Debentures and pursued Phillip for the
deficiency pursuant to subsection 64(3) of the PPSA; or

c. He could have accepted the Debentures in satisfaction of Phillip’'s
indebtedness to him.

[30] The Respondent argues then that the acquisition of the ownership interest in
the Debenture was not a necessary consequence of holding the security interest. It
was the consequence of a choice made by the Appellant. By choosing to seize
Phillip's Debenture, the Appellant entered into a fresh transaction, distinct and
separate from the guarantee. It had legal effect as a separate transaction. New rights
came into existence (he became beneficial owner of the Debenture) and obligations
were extinguished. This was a substantive transaction that must, according to the
principle laid down by the Supreme Court of Canada in Her Majesty the Queen v.
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John R. Singleton,™ be viewed independently - not as part of a chain of related
interdependent transactions.

[31] In Sngleton the issue was to determine if the use of borrowed funds by the
taxpayer was an dligible use. In that case the taxpayer essentialy refinanced a
partnership interest (in the sense that financing from a borrowed source replaced the
taxpayer’s own investment in an income earning partnership) and used his freed up
equity to acquire a personal residence. The transactions were clearly related and were
part of an uninterrupted interdependent chain of transactions that were completed
with each step done in contemplation of the preceding step.

[32] Even with such a direct connection between the transactions, the majority
judgment in Sngleton found that each transaction should be viewed as a separate
transaction. At the point in time that the money was borrowed by the taxpayer, it was
borrowed to finance a capital contribution to his partnership - a contribution made
necessary by a prior withdrawal from his capital account. The loan was applied to an
income producing asset which was held for that purpose. Accordingly, the money
was used for the purpose of earning income, and this was an dligible use of the
borrowed money.

[33] The Respondent argues that the reasoning in Sngleton is clear authority
requiring that the seizure of Phillip’s Debenture be isolated as a separate step, the
purpose of which could not objectively be found to have been an acquisition made
for the purpose of earning income. That arelated earlier transaction — the incurrence
of adebt under ajoint and severa liability covenant made for the purpose of earning
income — had a qualifying purpose, is not relevant in determining the purpose of the
ultimate acquisition. Even if the chain between these events was unbroken — as were
the events in Sngleton — the acquisition itself is a separate step, the purpose of which
must be determined in isolation of earlier connected transactions. If the chain
between these events can be broken, then the argument to treat the acquisition of the
Debenture as a separate transaction, in terms of determining its purpose, is al the
more compelling. The Respondent argues that the Appellant had a choice as to what
action he could take after acquiring the security interest in Phillip’s Debenture. The
exercise of that choice is a break in the chain of events. Such a break makesit all the
more clear that the acquisition of the Debenture was a distinct step, the purpose of
which must be determined in isolation of prior events.

12001 DTC 5533 at page 5538.
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[34] | aso note that Respondent’s counsel saw a lack of symmetry in the
operation of the provisions of the Act, or tax slippage in this case, that might
warrant my attention. The same Debenture was claimed as an ABIL by two
taxpayers (by Phillip in 1991 and by the Appellant in 1992) and that the total
amount of business loss claimed between the two brothers was $12,000,000 in
respect of an $8,000,000 debt issue.

[35] Whilethisisthe result, | note that any tax slippage flows from the provisions
of the Act. The operation of section 79 ensures that Phillip, who has properly taken
his ABIL, is deemed to have a $4,000,000 gain in 1992 on the disposition of the
Debenture. As to the symmetry that one might expect, one can see that gain as
offsetting the loss claimed in 1992 by Phillip. That the loss was an ABIL and the
gain is an ordinary capital gain is irrelevant. That Phillip may have had capita
losses to consume this gain is also irrelevant. From this perspective, there has been
$12,000,000 of losses claimed, $4,000,000 of gains declared — leaving $8,000,000
of losses to be declared. That is what has occurred. There is no need for me to give
this argument my further attention.

ANALYSIS

[36] As acknowledged by the Respondent, subject to subparagraph 40(2)(g)(ii),
the requirements of paragraph 39(1)(c) have been satisfied to permit the Appellant to
realize an ABIL of $3,000,000 upon the deemed disposition, by the Appellant, of the
Debenture at December 31, 1992, pursuant to subsection 50(1). Subparagraph
40(2)(g)(ii) reads asfollows:

(2) Limitations - Notwithstanding subsection (1),

(g) ataxpayer's loss, if any, from the disposition of a property, to the extent
thatitis

(ii) a loss from the disposition of a debt or other right to receive an
amount, unless the debt or right, as the case may be, was acquired by the
taxpayer for the purpose of gaining or producing income from a business
or property (other than exempt income) or as consideration for the
disposition of capital property to a person with whom the taxpayer was
dealing at arm's length,

isnil;

[37] | will deal firstly with the threshold issue as to the Appellant’s purpose for
seizing Phillip’s Debenture as an isolated event.
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[38] It might be helpful to re-state the context in which the Appellant’s
acquisition of Phillip’s Debenture occurred. The Debenture (and shares) replaced the
$4,500,000 debt that Phillip owed the Appellant by operation of the law of guaranty
and the right of contribution. Having repaid $4,500,000 of Phillip’s indebtedness to
the Roya Bank, the Appellant obtained a right of contribution for that amount from
Phillip. As well, the Appellant had a right to an assignment of the Roya Bank’s
security interest in the Debenture - a right he exercised. He then seized or took
ownership of the Debenture in satisfaction of his brother’ s indebtedness to him.

[39] The Appellant contends that he seized the $4,000,000 Debenture from Phillip
in satisfaction of Phillip’s debt, instead of pursuing Phillip on the debt for three
reasons.
a. It was unlikely that any amount could be recovered in a claim against
Phillip;
b. The Appellant believed the Debentures could have value in the future;
and
c. The Appellant had been advised of atax advantage in seizing Phillip’'s
Debentures rather than pursuing Phillip.

[40] If | believe that the Appellant seized the Debenture because he believed it
could have value in the future, that would be sufficient to dispose of the appeal in
favour of the Appellant. In such case, applying the reasons in Rich, there would be
no need to question the weight of the income-earning purpose, even if his belief in
the future value of the Debenture was only a faint hope and subordinate to the tax
advantage he sought. While every case must be considered in its overall context, |
see no reason in the case at bar to distinguish it from the Federal Court of Appea
decision in Rich.

[41] Rich was also a case involving the taxpayer’s claim for an ABIL. The trial
judge had found that the predominant purpose of the share purchase that gave rise
to the ABIL claim was to assist the taxpayer’ s son and that the commercial purpose
normally associated with such purchase, namely to earn dividends, was a faint
hope. While the trial judge found that fact to be fatal, the Federal Court of Appeal
did not agree. The Court of Appeal allowed that the purpose test in subparagraph
40(2)(g)(i1) had been met, accepting that even a faint hope of income as a
subordinate reason to acquire shares was sufficient.

[42] Recadling that the purpose of the ABIL is to encourage investment in small
Canadian businesses, it is little wonder to me that a Court would accept a faint
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hope as sufficient to meet the requisite purpose test. When a family business
experiences financia difficulty, the objective rationality of rescue motives might
aways be questionable with hindsight. Considerable tolerance seems essential. In
my view Rich stands for such principle.

[43] Still, the Respondent relies on the difference between a faint hope and the
assertion that the Appellant’s testimony, when viewed objectively, is not credible.
The Respondent essentially wants me to find that on a balance of probability, the
Appellant never considered that the worthless Debenture might someday yield a
return. His self-interested testimony should be disregarded.

[44] Objectively, the Respondent’s position is not without merit. The Appellant
need not have released Phillip to maintain a faint hope of recovery under his security
interest in Phillip’s Debenture. The acquisition was not necessary for him to clam a
loss on the bad debt. It was only necessary to obtain ABIL treatment.

[45] It is hard not to accept on a balance of probability that the Respondent’s
assertions are true in this case in spite of the Appellant’s testimony. Self-interested
recollections of doubtful thought processes going through one's mind years ago are
not reliable. While corroborative evidence of intent or purpose may be difficult to
find in cases such as this, there is a greater likelihood that such evidence might exist
if the stated purpose was genuinely present. For example, evidence that he did an
anaysis of the Recelver’s report might have warranted an inference of some faint
hope being present. The absence of anything corroborative leads to an opposite
inference. The only evidence the Appellant gave was that the Receiver was not
patient enough to make the best of real estate cycles and that some of Shoppers Trust
Co’'s property interests escalated in value sufficiently in recent years to give more
than faint hope of recovery, had such property interests been kept. But that evidence
seems only to underline that he understood that Receivers liquidate and in that
environment at that time, his tax motivation for exchanging his right of contribution
for the Debenture objectively appears not only to be his predominant reason for the
exchange but seems likely to be the only reason. That is, the evidence tends to
support a finding that the release of one debt in exchange for another was nothing
other than a step taken on the advice of tax advisers in order to secure not only a
capital lossfor tax purposes but an ABIL.

[46] On the other hand, taking the assignment of Phillip’s Debenture from the
Royal Bank strikes me as a routine step anchored, objectively, in the hope of
recovery. Collection of Phillip’s indebtedness to the Appellant would only be
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enhanced by the Appellant taking any security interest in any asset as per his
entitlements. Even the Respondent does not take issue with that.

[47] If the Respondent does not take issue with the fact or likelihood that the
Appdllant had recovery options in mind when he took the security interest, it seems
to me that the Respondent is hard pressed to attack the Appéllant’s ora testimony
that he thought the Debenture may have potentia value. Taking action to gan
recovery options necessarily implies a belief that the Debenture itself had potential
value. The Respondent’s own argument focuses on the recovery options afforded by
the assignment of the security interest in the Debenture without condemning the
motive for obtaining the assignment. The Respondent just condemns the option
chosen once the assignment was made and in doing so reliance is placed on the fact
that the security interest assigned to the Appellant by the bank gave the Appellant a
right to realize any vaue the Debenture might have without actually owning the
Debenture and on the fact that the Appellant lost an additiona avenue for recovery
by discharging his brother without gaining any advantage.

[48] These objective redlities do not, in my view, entirely distract from the
corroborative inference that might properly be drawn if one accepts that the
security interest assigned to the Appellant by the bank could reasonably be
considered as having been acquired because it represented some potential value as
a security interest. Any value perceived in a security interest in the Debenture
reflects value perceived in the Debenture. On this basis, | might be inclined to give
the Appellant the benefit of the doubt as to his purpose. However, such finding is
not necessary as the Appellant’ s aternative argument prevailsin any event.

[49] The Appélant’s alternative argument is that the time to consider purpose is not
the time of acquiring (seizing) the Debenture. If that was the time to apply the test of
a purpose to gain or produce income, the test could never be satisfied. It is the
Appdlant’s position that his seizing Phillip’s Debenture was a direct result of the
income earning purpose that motivated him to effectively guarantee Phillip's debt
and invest in Shoppers Trust Co originally. The Appellant relies on the Cadillac
Fairview line of authorities that reects a narrow and mechanical reading of
subparagraph 40(2)(g)(ii). As Chief Justice Bowman said in his Reasons for
Judgment in Cadillac Fairview:

A functiona and more commercidly redistic interpretation would subsume in the
purpose of the acquisition of the subrogated debt the purpose for which the
guarantee was originally given.
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[50] However, in that case and the other cases relied on by the Appellant, the
debt referred to is the debt arising as a consequence of the right of contribution. In
the case at bar that debt is Phillip’s persona debt to the Appellant. That personal
indebtedness of Phillip was acquired at law when the Appellant paid Phillip’s debt
to the Royal Bank. If the indebtedness to the Appellant remained Phillip’s, the
authorities relied on would be on all fours and | would not hesitate to apply them
and relate back to the earlier transaction in determining the Appellant’s purpose in
respect of his acquiring the debt that arose from his right of contribution. However,
in the case at bar the relevant indebtedness to the Appellant did not remain
Phillip’s; instead it was replaced with the indebtedness of Shoppers Trust Co in the
form of the Debenture.

[51] Without this “exchange’, the Appellant would be entitled to a capita loss in
respect of the bad debt owed to him by his brother. It was a bad debt to which section
50 would apply. This would be the case even though the debt was created well after
the transactions that led up to and eventually gave rise to its creation. However, in
that case he would not be entitled to an ABIL. The Respondent sees this extra
“exchange’ step, affected by seizing Phillip’'s ownership interest in the Debenture
and releasing Phillip, as a step that distinguishes the line of cases relied on by the
Appdlant. That step, as an isolated step that affords the Appellant better tax
treatment, is argued by the Respondent not to be governed by the authorities relied on
by the Appellant but rather is one that must be governed by the principles set out by
the Supreme Court of Canada in Sngleton.

[52] In considering how this extra step fits into the analysis, it is necessary to
consider the provisions of the Act that govern it. The governing provision is section
79 of the Act.® At the relevant time that section provided that where beneficial
ownership of a property (the Debenture) is acquired by a person (the Appellant)
from a debtor (Phillip) as a consequence of the failure of the debtor (Phillip) to pay
the debt owed (Phillip’s debt arising from the Appellant’s right to contribution),
the creditor’ s (the Appellant’s) adjusted cost base of the debt owed is deemed to be
nil. Since the value of the extinguished unpaid debt is nil, no gain or loss is
triggered on its extinguishment. The cost of the property (the Debenture) acquired
by the creditor (the Appellant) in satisfaction of the debt is then deemed to be the
cost of the debt extinguished on the acquisition ($4,000,000).

12 Section 79 asit read in 1992 is set out in Appendix B attached to these Reasons.
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[53] In more general terms, section 79 transfers the loss associated with the bad
debt to the newly acquired property. No immediate tax consequence is triggered in
relation to the loss incurred as a result of the debtor’s failure to pay. The loss is
deferred and recalculated based on future events such as on the disposition of the
newly acquired property. Where the newly acquired property is a debt instrument
such as the Debenture in this case, such a future event would include the application
of section 50 if the requirements of that section are met. In the case at bar, section 50
applies and the Appellant’s loss is recognized unless, as argued by the Respondent,
subparagraph 40(2)(g)(ii) appliesto deny the loss.

[54] The Appellant argues, in effect, that the Act should not be read in a manner
that would eliminate the loss that section 79 is intended to preserve. | agree. To
preserve the loss, which is the purpose of section 79, an income earning intention
acknowledged in respect of the original debt must flow through to the newly acquired
property as worthless as it may be. Otherwise such an exchange of indebtedness
involving a worthless Debenture in a non-SBC could result in the denial of a capital
loss in respect of which an ABIL was not being sought. Even the Respondent has not
suggested such a construction of the Act. The Respondent just objects to the
effectiveness of atax plan when the exchange of debt resultsin an ABIL. However, it
Is well established that taking advantage of sections of the Act that give rise to
preferred tax treatment is not a reason to deny the advantage sought. That the newly
acquired property, the Debenture, might afford the creditor aless restricted use of the
loss is in this sense circumstantial and in any event, in respect of the tax advantage
sought, there is a direct connection between the property acquired by the Appellant
under section 79 (a debt instrument of a SBC) and the origina indebtedness that
arouse as a conseguence of a guarantee given by the same taxpayer (the Appellant) to
re-finance that same SBC. On that basis it follows that a functional and more
commercialy redlistic interpretation of section 79 would be to subsume in the
purpose of the acquisition, to which that section applies, the purpose for which the
guarantee was originally given.

[55] As to the Respondent’s reliance on Sngleton, in my view, that case can
readily be distinguished. It dealt with whether borrowed money was used for the
purpose of earning income as required by paragraph 20(1)(c) of the Act to allow an
interest deduction. No other provisions of the Act had to be considered in terms of
aiding or dictating a particular construction of that provision in the circumstances
of that case. That being the case, the Court found in favour of the taxpayer, relying
on the direct link from the borrowed money to an eligible use. The loan proceeds
were in that case found to be used for an income earning purpose because they were
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directly applied to an income producing asset which was held (aready held) for that
purpose.

[56] Thetest in the case at bar is very different. Subparagraph 40(2)(g)(ii) looks
to the purpose of the acquisition of the debt not the use to which money is put. The
“purpose of acquisition” test has already been held by a strong line of thoughtful
and compelling cases to relate back to the purpose of the transaction that ultimately
gave rise to the acquisition of the debt where the acquisition occurs by virtue of a
right of contribution. That is, the proper construction of the purpose test in such
cases is impacted by its interaction with such related events. The acquisition of the
Debenture is such a related event and that event calls even more for the purpose
test to be related back. Otherwise section 79 will fail to accomplish its objective in
a very penaizing way. Accordingly, | am satisfied that the reasoning in the
Cadillac Fairview line of cases must apply equaly to the case at bar. Section 79
deds with the acquisition of property (the Debenture) on the basis that the loss
denied by that provision (in respect of the extinguishment of the contribution debt
owed by Phillip) will be accounted for when a taxable event occurs in respect of that
property. In such case one must subsume in the purpose of the acquisition governed
by section 79, the purpose that relates back to the extinguished debt, which in turn
relates back to the purpose of providing the guarantee in the first place.

[57] The debt in this case arose in respect of a financing arrangement made for a
SBC. As aresult of that arrangement the Appellant has incurred a loss. That that
loss can only be categorized as an ABIL by taking an extra tax planned step is no
reason to view that step, and the provisions of the Act applicable to it, in away that
leaves the Appellant on the outside of the tax expenditure provisions put in the Act
to assist in the financing of SBCs. In these circumstances a functional and more
commercialy redlistic interpretation of the subject provisions would be to subsume
in the purpose of the acquisition to which section 79 applies, the purpose for which
the guarantee in this case was originally given. Such construction, in my view is
consistent with the object and spirit of the subject provisions. To find otherwise
would not be in harmony with their evident purpose, would lack common sense
and would cast a blind eye to the commercial and economic realities of business
transactions. These were the comments of Justice Bell in National Devel opments at
page 1067. While they referred singularly to subparagraph 40(2)(g)(ii), they apply
equally in my view to the interaction among section 79, subparagraph 40(2)(g)(ii)
and the provisions of the Act affording ABIL treatment to debt instruments of
SBCs.

[58] For all these reasons the appeals are allowed.
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Signed at Ottawa, Canadathis 23rd day of May 2007.

"JE. Hershfield"

Hershfield J.
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BT-ATANITHS
TAX COURT OF CAN ALY
BETWEEN!:
UMM 1L DANTELS
Appellani
il
HER MAJESTY THE QUEEN
Respamdent

5 (F ALGRE Fu

The Appellant and the Bespondent bereby each agree thit for the purposes of this appeal, the
fusllowing lacts are slmdited:

L Al all miiterial flmes the Appellinl and s brother, Phillgy Danscls (“Thallip”™y, wers
resldenis af Caanda,

[

Al all material times Phillip owned 75% of the common shares of Shoppers Trosa
Campany, {“Shappers Trusi™), and 34790 COotario Limited, o compuny all of whise
comman shares were owned by the Appellanl. owised 25% ol the common shares of
Shoppers Trste.
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=3a

Shoppers Trus |8 & corporation incorpersted under the Lo ared Corporationy Trusd et
{Ontarin). Shoppers Trust was a Canndinn-controlled private corporation and o smull
bissiness corparition within the meaning of the Act throughmat the relevant period and
carried on the husiness of kending money,

Prior to 1988, cach of the Appellant and Phillip also owned Shoppers Trus debensures
with o foce amoum of 515000000, and Phillip waos indebitad 1o the Toronis Boeminion
Rank {the T Bank™ in the amount of 33,000,040 (the “TD Deba™)

The Appellont had pequired his Shoppers Trust debennmes in exchanpe for preference
shares of Sheppers Trust for which he had paad 51,500,000

In 1988, the Appellumt and Phillip borrowed $8,000,000 (the “Roval Bank Lom™ from
the Royval Bank of Canods (the “Royel Bank™) on a joiot and severnl bass.  Phillip
peceived 53 300000 of the procesds of 1l Roval Bank Loan, and the Appellnm roceived
S 500, DU of those proceeds.

The Appellant bad 20 income enming purpose when he became joimtly and severally

linhile 1o the Rowal Pank in respect of the 58 000,000 Royal Rank Loms made o bim asd
Phallip.

Phillap vsed the §5 500,000 provesds of the Royval Bunk Loan 1o repay the T Debt {of
§3,000,000%, and purchased additional Shoppers Trust debentures for 52,500,000 with the
remaining procesds, and thereafier owned 54,000,000 of Shoppers Trust debeniores
(“Phillip's Debentures™.

The Appellant used his share of the proceeds of the Royal Bank Loan of $2.500,000 1o
purchnse sdditional Shoppers Trost debenfuncs frr 52,500,000, and thereafler owned
54,000,000 of Shoppers Trust debentures (ihe "Appeilant’s Debentures™),

Each of the Appellunt amd Phillip phedged his respective $4.000,000 of Shoppers Trist
debeniuns wnd his common shares tn Shoppers Trust {eollectively, ihe "Shoppers
Recurities™) o the Royal Bank ns secunity for the Royal Bank Loan.




13

14.

15,

16,
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18,
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Befone 1592, Phillip repaid $1,000,000 of the Royal Bonk Loan and the Appellane repuid
S5 000 of the Foyal Bank Lonn,  After these repayments, the Royval Hank was owed
4,500,000 by 1hillip and $2,000,000 by the Appellani. Both the Appellani and Phillip
were jointly und severslly liable i respect of the entire indehiedness of 56, 500,000,

In January of 1992, the Appellani repaid an additional $1.250,000 o the Royal Bank.
Afiter this repayment, the Hoyal Bank was owed 34,500,040 by Phillip snd $750,000 by
the Appellant. Baoth the Appellant and Phallip wene punly and severally lable in nespect
of the enting remaining indebtedness of 55,250,000,

The Office of Fimencial Savings Institutions, @n Onane egulatory suthonty, underock
nn sudit of Shoppers Trust in December, 1991, Ax o resull, Shoppers Trust was pui into
recervership in Murch, 1993

Ench of the Appellant and Phillip determined thar ot December 31, 1991, the Shoppers
sewuritics had become worthless.

Each of the Appelbant and Phillip, in compoting has inemme for his 1991 mxation vear,
clumed an allowable husmess imvestment [oss of 53,000,000 in respect of the loss each
suffered in redpect of the Shoppers Secuorities

The deductban of U said allownble bustivess apvestoent losses wes allowed by the
Mintatier of Paatsmnil Revemss (the “Muuster™) o conputing the income of the Appeilunt
and Fhillip for their respective 199 axation year.

The Royal Bank called for repayment of the Boyal Bank Loan in 1992, Phillip conld mot
repay any part of the ouistinding bolance of the Royal Bank Loon. Conseguently, fhao
Agppellant, parsiont 1o his poand amd severmd obligaton. was required o repay the fall
il of $5 290000 owang 10 s Royal Banke The Appellomt borreed this sum from
the Royal Bank in June, 1992 and used the proceeds of that boun 1o repay the $35,250,000
joint and several indebtedness of the Appellnm snd Phillip te tha bank

In the aggregate, therelong, e Appellont repasd $ 7,000,008 of the Koynl Bank Loan.
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1% By letter dated November 18, 1992, addressed to Plullip, the Appeliont demanded tha
Phillip pay & him Phillip's 34,300,000 shore of the Hoyal Bank Loan which the
Appellient had repaid, (ailing which the Appellant would obtain un nssignment from the
Royal Runk of the Shiappers Trust debentures which Phillip had pledged o that tank o

security for the Royad Bank L, ol would ke seps o recover payment in full of that
armoan,

]

On December 1, 1992, the Appellant obained from the Boyal Bask an assignment of
Phkllips Debentures.

21, On December 4. 1992, the Appellunt gave Phillip written notice purmsuant to section 63 of
The Parsomal Property Secwrity Act of Ontario thit the Appeilant intended 15 dispose of
Phillip's Debentures, unless Phillip pald the Appellant $4, 500,000, but that if that amount
was mos paid, the Appellant sccepied Phillip's Debentures in satisfaction of Phillip's
abligation to the Appellant.

22 As o resull of Shoppers Trust having been put i receivership, Phillip got into serous
fipapcial difficultics which pot only mendered him wnable 10 pay the Appellonl the
54,5000 wihideh the Appellant demanded, bt even compelled bim fo sell his persoanl
remidence.  The Appellant, thersfore, made no attempi to collecy the $4.500,0600 from
Phillip after March, 1992, but mther acquined Phillip's Debentures.

23, Shoppers Trust has continued o be in receivership unnl this day, and its debeniures hod
nair yidue al Desember 31, 1992

24, i compueng his income Toe lss 1997 mxanion year, the Appelinm dediscied an allowshla
busingss investment loss of S3000000 in respect of Phillip's Debemlores.  This
deduction was disalbowed by the Mintster on reassessing the Appetlant for that year,

=
[

In compating his meome for bis 1992 wxaton year, Mullip included o capital gain of
54, 500,000 i respect of the disposation of Phillip's Debenlures and certain shanes.

26, The Appellam and e Respondent scknowledge and agree that each of them may
introdiscs additinal evidense i this appenl that is not nconsestent with the (e
nidmitted aborve,

e Rl —————————
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SECTION 79: Mortgage foreclosures and conditional sales repossessions.

;‘Tﬂﬂﬂmﬁmﬁhlmhn year, a mxpayer who
4) wai i morigagee or other creditor of another person who had previgusly
acquired property, or

{b) had previousty sold property to another person under & conditional sales
ngresment,

hhmhﬂﬂfmhhﬁmhnmﬁﬁdumﬂﬂdpnﬁhnmyi.mmnf
the other person's failure to pay all or any part of an amount {in this section referred
to &s the “txpayer’s ciaim™) owing by him to the taxpayer, the following rales apply:

(e} there shall be included, in compaiting the other person’s procesds of disposi-
tion of the property, the principal amount of the taxpayver's claim plos afl
amounts each of which is the principal amount of any debl that had been
owing by the other person, o the exient that it has been extinguished by virue
of the acquisition or reacqueisition, as the ease may be;

{d) any amount paid by the other person afler the acguisition or reacqguisiton,
as the case may be, a8, on account of or in satisfaction of the taxpoyer's claim
shall be deemed 0 be & loss of that person, for his taxation year in which
paymient of thal amount was made, from the disposition of the property;

(&} in computing the income of the iaxpayer for the year,

(i} the amount, il any, claimed by the ilaxpayer under su !
A0 1) apiELy ar 480 1Y edE) in puting the txpayer's gain for the mmedi-
aiely preceding taxation year from the disposition of the property, and

(i) the amount, if any, deducted under parsgraph 2001 }#) in-computing the
income of the axpayer for the immediaiely preceding year in respect of the
property,

shall be deemed to be nil; e

() the taxpayer shall be deemed to have acquired or reacquired, as the case may
nh_mgpg;nuu;mmwlny.bfwManmlhﬂtﬁmnEm
taxpayer's claim exceads the smount described in subparagraph (e){i) or (i), as
the case may be, in respect of the property;

() the adjusted cost base to the taxpayer of the taxpayer’s claim shall be deemed
ta be amil; and

{h} in computing the taxpayer's income for the year or a subsequent year, no
amount is deductible in respect of the taxpayer’s claim by vinue of
20(1)1) or (ph
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